IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOHN HAMPTON, : Appellant, : vs. : STATE OF FLORIDA, : Appellee. : :

Case No. SC10-0812

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

DEBORAH K. BRUECKHEIMER Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0278734

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (863) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 21, 2007, the State Attorney for Pinellas County, Florida, Sixth Circuit, filed an Indictment charging the Appellant, JOHN LEE HAMPTON, with the first-degree murder of

occurring on June 10, 2007, in violation of § 782.04(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (2006). (V1/R5-6) Mr. Hampton had a jury trial in June 2009 and was found guilty as charged on June 25, 2009. (V2/R213) The jury then recommended a sentence of death 9-3. (V2/R214) The trial court rendered a sentence imposing death on February 19, 2010. (V2/R282-299)

A Motion for New Trial was filed on February 25, 2010, based on juror misconduct; and the motion was denied on March 26, 2010. Mr. Hampton's Notice of Appeal was timely filed on April 16, 2010. (V2/R304-307,312-318)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. The Trial

morning of June 10, 2007. What happened the day before and part of that evening is not in dispute. The day on June 9, 2007, along with friend Chimere Streater. When the day on June 9, 2007, along with friend Chimere Streater. When the went home, she took one of Ms. Jones' children with her. Ms. Streater and her children also went home with the Ms. Streater and her children the hall from the evening of June 9, 2007, into June 10, 2007, Ms. Robinson had all the children over in her apartment-her 5,

3, and 2 others. Ms. Streater stayed at **Example 1** apartment until about midnight drinking. At about 8 p.m. Reginald Span, John Hampton and a young boy stopped by **Example 1** apartment. They stayed about 30 minutes, but they returned later without the boy. The 4 played cards, watched TV, and drank shots of gin. Ms. Streater did not see any cocaine being used. Mr. Hampton tried to have a conversation with Ms. Streater, but she did not like him. At one point **Example 1** and Mr. Span went out and got more alcohol; and Ms. Streater stayed at the apartment with Mr. Hampton. When **Example 1** and Mr. Span returned, that is when Ms. Streater left. (V6/T225-261)

did not have a phone, so she would borrow Ms.

Robinson's phone. Ms. Robinson retrieved her phone from at 1 a.m. on June 10, 2007, to recharge it. She did see Mr. Spann and Mr. Hampton at apartment the evening of June 9, 2007; and Mr. Hampton invited her to stay and play cards. Ms. Robinson did not stay, because she had all the children at her apartment. Ms. Robinson woke up at 10 a.m. when she heard Ms. Jones banging on her door. Ms. Jones had gone to apartment to retrieve her child, because she had not been able to by phone. Ms. Jones knocked on reach door and then walked in through the unlocked door. She found on the floor nude. looked unconscious, but would not budge when Ms. Jones tried to wake her. was on her back with her legs spread, blood in her hair, neck punctured, eyes swollen, face bruised. (did not have a bruised face the day before.) Ms. Jones then ran to the neighbor, Ms. Robinson, to use the phone. Ms. Robinson went with Ms. Jones apartment and saw on the floor into dead. There was blood on the walls and smeared everywhere, the bed was tossed over, and stuff was thrown everywhere. did not keep her bedroom this way. Ms. Robinson and Ms. Jones called 911, and the Clearwater Police responded. Ms. Jones covered with a blanket before the police arrived. (V6/T242-270)The Associate Medical Examiner performed an autopsy on on June 11, 2007. The cause of death was blunt and sharp injuries-there was blunt trauma injury to the brain that was

potentially a life-threatening injury and a stab wound to the neck

that punctured the jugular vein causing significant bleeding and was a life-threatening injury if left untreated. The manner of death is homicide. ______ also had hand injures from a sharp instrument that could be consistent with defensive wounds. In addition, had bruising and blunt force trauma to her face caused by multiple strikes, abrasions on her back and shoulder and knees, and chemical burns on her thighs. There were two different chemicals found on ______a generalized petroleum product and a moderate amount of clear blue-tinged gel-like liquid in the vagina. It's possible could have received these injuries and remained conscious during the beating. Defensive wounds to the hands would indicate consciousness, and the number of wounds would also indicate a struggle. Most people would feel some degree of pain with these types of injuries. There were no injuries to the genital region or the anal region-no tears or bruising to the vagina, but lack of injury to the vaginal area does not establish whether or not was sexually battered. There was no evidence of cocaine in the system, but there was evidence of ethanol in the blood and eyes which could be from alcoholic beverages.

The Associate Medical Examiner could not determine the time of death or a window period during which death occurred. The Medical Examiner's investigator didn't arrive at the scene until 4 hours after the call came in, and the Associate Medical Examiner didn't see the body until the next day. When the investigator went to the scene at 3:15 p.m. on June 10, 2007, rigor mortis was

present. Rigor has three approximate 12-hour periods-the first 12 hours it increases, the second 12 hours it stays constant, and the third 12 hours it decreases. These 12-hour periods, however, are approximate and flexible. Temperatures can affect the timing with warmer temperatures causing rigor to develop more quickly. Physical exertion can also cause rigor to develop more quickly. It's possible the victim could have died between 4-8 a.m., and the victim's struggle could have caused rigor to set in more quickly. When the Medical Examiner's investigator arrived, it is most likely the body was in the second period. The Associate Medical Examiner also could not tell when the victim lost consciousness. It's possible the victim was unconscious relatively quickly into the traumatic sequence of events. (V7/T434-464;V8/T527-534)

The police collected 200-300 pieces of evidence from the victim, the victim's apartment, the dumpster outside the victim's apartment, Mr. Hampton, and the Span residence; however, only a few pieces of evidence could be tested due to testing costs-Mr. Hampton's clothes and socks and jewelry and known DNA via swab, Mr. Span's known DNA from swab, swabs from the victim's vaginal area, swab from Mr. Hampton's foot, and victim's known DNA from her blood. The officers also took photos of the victim and her bedroom in addition to collecting a pair of socks, a bottle of Mr. Clean, and a bottle of lighter fluid from the dumpster outside the victim's apartment. (V6/T333-366;V7/T695-710)

A DNA analyst from a private DNA lab (which was used to handle outsource cases from the FDLE via contract due to a high

volume of cases), Sarah Shields, conducted the DNA testing in this case. She found the following results: A swab from Mr. Hampton's foot had the victim's DNA. A sock from the dumpster had the victim's DNA. Vaginal swabs from the victim showed Mr. Hampton's sperm, and Mr. Span was excluded. A stain from Mr. Hampton's shorts and a swabbing from Mr. Hampton's cross pendant necklace had the victim's DNA. All of these findings were within a reasonable degree of scientific certainty. (V7/T395-425)

The latent print examiner found Mr. Hampton's print on a white shoebox in the victim's home. The examiner did say she couldn't tell how long ago or when the prints were made. Prints can last for years. Just because Mr. Hampton's print was on the shoebox doesn't mean he put it in the victim's bed where the police found it. (V7/T465-483)

A blood splatter analyst examined the scene after the victim's body was removed. It was explained that cast-off splatter is associated with a suspect and the weapon, whereas impact splatter is associated with the victim. Cast-off from the weapon is usually in an arcing pattern, and the analyst saw two different arcing patterns at the scene. Information from the cast-off splatter allowed the analyst to determine there was a minimum of four blows to the victim while she was down low on the ground. This splatter was between low and medium impact indicative of beatings and stabbings and not from a gunshot. Focusing on the floor, the analyst observed a few things. There was a significant amount of pooling of blood in one area showing that the victim had laid in

the area for an extended amount of time to allow for this significant amount of blood. The victim appeared to have been dragged from one part of the room to the other side of the room where she was found. At this point the victim was either unconscious or deceased. There were handprints in blood on the floor that were consistent with two different possibilities, because the analyst could not tell if the handprints were male or female. One possibility was that the attacker was in a missionary position over the top of the victim as she lay bloody on the floor. The other possibility was that the victim was getting up from the floor. There was some transfer of blood where someone is moving around the room depositing blood on various items. There was a lot of transfer blood at the dresser. (V7/T484-515)

Once word got out of **Market Market** death, Reginald Span received a call from a friend telling him the news. Mr. Span, his wife Dorothy, and Mr. Hampton drove over to **Market Market** apartment. All three were interviewed by the police, and all three testified at trial.

Dorothy Span said Mr. Hampton was married to her sister and was staying with them when **married** died. Mr. and Mrs. Span and Mr. Hampton went to a barbeque during the day on Saturday, June 9, 2007. Mrs. Span was tired when they all got home, so she went to bed. When she woke up between 1:30-2 a.m., she did not see her husband. Mr. Span got home at 3:45 a.m., and Mrs. Span was not happy with him. When Mrs. Span asked her husband where he'd been, he did not say anything. He just took his clothes off and got in

bed. He had been drinking and was drunk. She saw Mr. Hampton around 8 a.m. The door alarm rang when Mr. Hampton came in and then came upstairs with a newspaper and a bag of pork skins. Mrs. Span and Mr. Hampton were cleaning the house when the call came in about **management**. Mrs. Span always washes her walls and the whole house with bleach. When they got the call about

, all three drove over to **second apartment**. At that point Mrs. Span didn't know that her husband and Mr. Hampton had been at **second apartment** the night before. It wasn't until she spoke with her family that she was told her husband and Mr. Hampton were the last to see **second alive**. While Mr. Hampton was staying at the Spans' home, he slept downstairs on the sofa or the chair. (V6/T302-319)

Reginald Spann lived in Clearwater, Florida, from March 2007 through June 10, 2007; and he now lives in Georgia with his wife and two step-daughters. He met **Exercise** through his wife; and he knows Mr. Hampton as Mr. Hampton was married to his wife's sister. Mr. Hampton was staying at the Span home on June 9, 2007. After being at a barbeque all day on June 9, Mr. Span took his wife home at 6 p.m.; and then he took his nephew and Mr. Hampton

to apartment. Ms. Streater was also at apartment. Mr. Span, his nephew, and Mr. Hampton left the apartment after 20 minutes; but Mr. Span and Mr. Hampton went back to apartment. The four of them talked, played cards, and drank. Mr. Span and means went out twice to buy gin and beer (means broke the first bottle requiring a second trip

out for more). At one point Ms. Streater left, but Mr. Span and Mr. Hampton remained. In the early morning hours Mr. Span had sex with for the first and only time. Mr. Span did not ejaculate; because while they were having sex, he looked up and saw Mr. Hampton watching. So Mr. Span stopped. He spoke with

for about 10 minutes, and then he and Mr. Hampton left about 3:30 a.m.. was in bed, nude, with the covers over her when the men left. The bedroom was clean when Mr. Span left. didn't get up to lock the door, and Mr. Span couldn't lock it. Mr. Span and Mr. Hampton got back to the Span home about 3:40 a.m., but Mr. Hampton did not come into the house as he was going to visit a girl who lived a block up the road. Mr. Span left the door unlocked for Mr. Hampton and then went up to bed. Mr. Span put his clothes in a pile to be cleaned. Mr. Span next saw Mr. Hampton at 8:40 a.m.; Mr. Hampton was sitting in a chair with a newspaper when Mr. Span came downstairs. The alarm did sound at 8-8:30 a.m. on June 10, 2007, when Mr. Hampton came through the door. Mr. Span took a shower. When Mr. Span got the call about Sunday morning, Mr. and Mrs. Span and Mr. Hampton drove over to apartment. Mr. Hampton was wearing the same shoes, pants, and necklace he had worn the night before. Mr. Hampton was wearing a different shirt. apartment was about a 30-minues walk from the Span home. (V6/T271-301)

Mr. Hampton testified to a different version of how the evening ended at **Example 1** apartment. Mr. Hampton's version

agreed with Mr. Span's version up until the time when Ms. Streater left apartment about midnight. At that point the stories differ. Mr. Hampton said Mr. Span left the apartment twice to make phone calls; and the second time he left, he was gone for about ½ hour. Mr. Hampton and talked during these calls; and during the second call, they had sex. That is how Mr. Hampton's DNA got inside **Exercise**. Afterwards, Mr. Hampton and

went back into the living room, Mr. Span came back, and the three played cards again. Then Mr. Span and talked, and Mr. Hampton dozed off on the couch. Mr. Span woke Mr. Hampton up and said it was time to go home. Mr. Hampton said he had to go to the bathroom; and as he walked around the corner, he on the floor. He ran up to her and gave her CPR, saw could not move. asked Mr. Hampton to but help her, but he could not call 911 because he did not have a phone. In addition, he didn't want to call the police; because he was talking and had a light had a warrant on him. pulse, but she could not help herself and could not get up. Mr. Span grabbed Mr. Hampton; and when they got to the kitchen, Mr. Hampton saw his socks had blood on them. He took them off and threw them in a little white trash can. Then he saw Mr. Span using dish detergent, and Mr. Span told him (Hampton) to wipe it off. Mr. Hampton wiped, because he didn't want anyone to know he was there. Mr. Hampton saw a bottle of lighter fluid, but he never saw anyone use it. Things got put into the white trash can, including the bottle of Mr. Clean; and he threw the can into the dumpster.

Mr. Span told Mr. Hampton that if anyone asked, they had been at a little hole-in-the-wall club called Blue Chip; but they were not at the club that night.

After they left apartment, Mr. Span and Mr. Hampton went straight back to the Span home; and once Mr. Hampton got there, he didn't go back out. They had a beer, and then Mr. Hampton listened to the radio and went to sleep. When Mr. Hampton woke up that morning, Mr. Span was wearing all new clothes and shoes. Mr. Hampton wore the same shoes and shorts, but he changed his shirt. Mr. Hampton helped Mrs. Span clean the house; and when the call came in about being dead, Mr. and Mrs. Span and Mr. Hampton went to apartment. Mr. Hampton didn't want to go; because he had a warrant on him. Mrs. Span, however, would not let Mr. Hampton stay at the house with her kids alone. So Mr. Hampton went to apartment, but he tried to stay away from the police by walking to the front of the building. He was sitting and smoking a cigarette when he saw Mrs. Span and the police coming. Mr. Hampton was then taken to the police station.

At the police station Mr. Hampton gave the police many different stores, and he did this when the police refused to believe his initial version which was the truth. The police kept at him saying people saw him do things and the Spans said Mr. Hampton did things. Mr. Hampton said he did not rob anyone; he did not hurt anyone; he did not rape **manual**; he did not steal any drugs or money from **manual**. All he did was give **ma**

CPR. He did not kill **CPR**. Mr. Hampton and Mr. Span left **CPR**. He did not kill **CPR** apartment together at about 3 a.m.. Mr. Hampton did not walk back to **CPR** apartment by himself, because he didn't know his way around. Mr. Hampton didn't steal a bike, never called a cab, and never used a payphone to call **CPR**. (V9/T714-733)

Mr. Hampton admitted to having four felony convictions, and he was on probation for one of those felonies at the time of

death. He was in violation status on that probation in June 2007. This was the outstanding warrant he had described. He was also convicted of a crime involving truth or dishonesty. He also admitted to possessing cocaine that night which might also violate him. Mr. Hampton did not go to one of **Mathematica** neighbors, because he was scared. He ran. He panicked. He didn't use the phone at the Spans' as the phone was in their room. He didn't go to a neighbor's at 3 a.m., because no one would open the door at that hour. He wasn't thinking right. He knew **Mathematica** would be alone when they left, and there was no phone. (V9/T740-749)

The following are the statements Mr. Hampton gave the police (on the left) and his in-court explanation/recantation of those statements (on the right):

Mr. Hampton's Statements to Det. Ruhlin as Summarized By the Detective

1. At the scene Mr. Hampton said he was at a card game at home with Mr. Span. Ms. Streater was also there, and they all played cards and drank. Mr. Hampton and Mr. Span left together, and Mr. Hampton spent the night at the Span's house. Mr. Hampton and Mr. Span left at about 3 a.m., and Ms. Streater left at about midnight.

<u>Mr. Hampton's Trial Explana-</u> <u>tion/Recantation on</u> <u>Cross-Examination</u>

1. What Mr. Hampton said about at about 3 leaving a.m. with Mr. Span was correct, but he made no mention of dying in his presence or believing Mr. Span committed murder. Mr. Hampton didn't want the police to know he was there, because he was in enough trouble with the warrant in Georgia. Mr. Hampton tried to help by putting cold water on her wound and holding a sheet on it. He did clean vagina out while she was saying 'help me, help me' and was still alive.

2. The remaining statements by Mr. Hampton were made at the police station after Mr. Hampton waived his Miranda rights. They all started the same: Mr. Span and Mr. Hampton go over to home with Mr. Span's nephew. They stayed a little while then left. After taking the nephew home, Mr. Span and Mr. Hampton return to Ms. Kinnes' home about 7 p.m.. Ms. Streater was also present, and the 4 played cards and drank. Twice during the evening leave Mr. Span and for short periods to get gin. Ms. Streater left about midnight. Mr. Span and Mr. Hampton left about 3 a.m.. (At this point the story becomes different at each retelling.) Mr. Span and Mr. Hampton went into the Span home, and Mr. Hampton went to sleep in the living room chair he usually sleeps in. Mr. Span woke Mr. Hampton up that morning and sent Mr. Hampton to the store. Mr. Hampton didn't change his clothes when the Spans started to clean the house, and he helped.

3. Mr. Hampton said he dozed off after midnight. Mr. Span woke him up, and was getting up off the floor. Said her baby's father was coming over, so they had to leave. 2. Mr. Hampton never mentioned he left in her bedroom begging for help, that he performed CPR, that while begging for her life he cleaned out vagina with a rag, or that he left to die when he left with Mr. Span.

3. Mr. Hampton was not asked about this version on cross.

4. Mr. Hampton said Mr. Span woke him up, and he saw on the floor. Mr. Hampton tried to give CPR. Mr. Span and Mr. Hampton left, and was still alive. The men went back to the Span's home, and Mr. Hampton slept in the chair. 5. Mr. Hampton says they were all smoking marijuana in the bedroom. Both Mr. Span and Mr. Hampton had sex with gets • upset with Mr. Hampton, but Mr. Hampton doesn't say why. grabs a knife and comes at Mr. Hampton. Mr. Hampton pushes her, and she falls on the knife. The officer confronts Mr. Hampton and says had more than just 1 wound.

6. Mr. Hampton says they (Mr. Span and Mr. Hampton) both had sex with wanted them to pay. When they didn't pay, and she came at Mr. Hampton with a knife. Mr. Hampton grabbed and spun her around. During the spinning around, Mr. Hampton accidentally slit her throat. 4. Mr. Hampton told the police Mr. Span hurt , and he (Mr. Hampton) did CPR. However, Mr. Hampton did not talk about cleaning out vagina while she was alive and begging for help.

5. Although Mr. Hampton said he and Mr. Span had sex with , that did not happen. Mr. Hampton got tired of being asked questions, so he lied. At trial he's telling the truth. The part of the story to the police where Mr. Hampton became upset said with him during this threesome and ran at him with a knife, was a lie. Mr. Hampton saying he pushed and she fell on the knife never happened.

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