IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOHN HAMPTON,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC10-812 L.T. No. CRC07-12699 CFANO Death Penalty Case

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

KATHERINE V. BLANCO Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0327832

Concourse Center 4
3507 E. Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607
Telephone: (813) 287-7910
Facsimile: (813) 281-5501
katherine.blanco@myfloridalegal.com
COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

of the record.

961 So.2d at 324 (emphasis supplied). Our analysis with regard to the De La Rosa standard defeats any assertion by Lugo that a biased juror actually served on the jury. As we have noted, the trial court engaged in an extended venire discussion to assure that the status of a juror as a crime victim would not impact ability to fairly and impartially adjudicate the guilt or innocence of Lugo with regard the charged crimes. Juror Schlehuber did not indicate that he would be unable to set aside any of his past experiences if he were selected to serve on Lugo's jury. In Carratelli, we held that the defendant failed to demonstrate actual prejudice where the challenged juror explained during voir dire that he could be fair, listen to the evidence, and follow the law. See id. at 327. Lugo similarly has failed to demonstrate that juror Schlehuber was actually biased against him. See id. at 324. Accordingly, he is not entitled to relief under Carratelli.

Lugo, 2 So. 3d at 16

No claim of bias has been shown. Given that the 12-member jury unanimously determined Hampton's guilt after hearing all the facts and evidence, the evidence supports the contrary. Under these circumstances, Hampton has failed to demonstrate error warranting a new trial.

C. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Hampton's motion to interview Juror Doetsch as untimely filed.

Lastly, Hampton argues that the trial court abused its discretion in denying his motion to interview Juror Doetsch as untimely filed. Rule 3.575, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure requires that a motion to interview juror shall be filed within ten days after the rendition of the verdict, unless good cause

is shown for the failure to make the motion within that time.

Hampton's initial Motion to Interview Juror was filed on November 19, 2009 (V2/250), 148 days after the jury's verdict was rendered on June 25, 2009. The trial court ruled that defense counsel failed to state a reason for his failure to investigate the jury panelist during jury selection, prior to the jury being sworn, during the trial, or immediately after In addition, although defense counsel saw Mr. Doetsch in the courthouse in August and in October, he still failed to assert why he did not investigate or discover that Mr. Doetsch was facing prosecution prior to November 17, 2009. trial court found that defense counsel could have discovered this information earlier with due diligence. See Belcher v. State, 9 So. 3d 665 (Fla. 1st DCA 2009). In this case, although defense counsel was aware of the potential juror issue, he still did not investigate the issue until long after the trial. motion for jury interview was time-barred. Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.575.

Hampton apparently urges this Court to reject any notion of requiring the defense to show "due diligence." However, in Lugo v. State, 2 So. 3d 1, 15 (Fla. 2008), this Court reiterated,

We have held that

[t]he "due diligence" test requires that counsel provide a sufficient explanation of the type of information which potential jurors are being asked to disclose, particularly if it pertains to an area about which an average lay juror might not otherwise have a working understanding. Thus, resolution of this "diligence" issue requires a factual determination regarding whether the explanations provided by the judge and counsel regarding the kinds of responses which were sought would reasonably have been understood by the subject jurors to encompass the undisclosed information.

Roberts v. Tejada, 814 So.2d 334, 343 (Fla. 2002). When trial counsel for Lugo conducted group voir dire, he did not inquire if any of the other jurors had also inadvertently failed to include on their questionnaire altercations, whether reported to the police whether charges were actually filed. Here, it appears never pursued against charges were involved deliveryman with juror Schlehuber, and therefore, at best, an ambiguity may exist which was not explored.

Lugo, 2 So. 3d at 15

Furthermore, the requirement of due diligence is well-established in other criminal contexts. For example, "[A]ny claim of newly discovered evidence in a death penalty case must be brought within one year of the date such evidence was discovered or could have been discovered through the exercise of due diligence." See Glock v. Moore, 776 So. 2d 243, 251 (Fla. 2001). In addition, this Court has held that two requirements must be met in order for a conviction to be set aside on the basis of newly discovered evidence: (1) to be considered newly discovered, the asserted evidence must have been unknown to the trial court, to the party, or to counsel at the time of trial,

and it must appear that the defendant or defense counsel could not have known of it by the use of due diligence; and (2) the newly discovered evidence must be of such a nature that it would probably produce an acquittal on retrial. Jones v. State, 709 So. 2d 512, 521 (Fla.1998). The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the motion to interview juror as timebarred where defense counsel could have discovered this information earlier with due diligence.

Alternatively, Hampton's Motion to Interview Juror was also without merit. Here, as in Johnston, 63 So. 3d at 740, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Hampton's rule 3.575 motion because a juror interview was unnecessary given that the substance of the juror's nondisclosure - his misdemeanor arrest -- was already known. Based upon nothing other than pure speculation, Hampton posits that Juror Doetsch might have failed to disclose his misdemeanor arrest because of some future theory to "curry favor" with the State. However, Johnston rejected such speculation and Hampton did not provide adequate justification to support the need for a juror interview. See Ehrhardt, Florida Evidence, Section 607.2 (ed. 2001) (counsel has to have knowledge of juror misconduct prior

to interview)⁵.

Hampton has not demonstrated any error with respect to Juror Doetsch's service. None of the foregoing sub-claims, individually or collectively, merit a new trial. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Hampton's motion for new trial and finding that the defense failed to show good cause to excuse his untimely motion for juror interview.

⁵If Hampton is suggesting, based upon Doetsch's prior misdemeanor drug paraphernalia arrest, a claim of juror misconduct or influence upon the juror's deliberations arising from external sources, any such claim is procedurally barred and also would not entitle him to a juror interview. See Devoney v. State, 717 So. 2d 501, 503-504 (Fla. 1998) (citations omitted), citing Tanner v. United States, 483 U.S. 107, 107 S. Ct. 2739 (1987) (even allegations of juror misconduct such as consuming alcohol and ingesting and selling narcotics during court recess did not constitute external influences on the jury which would violate a defendant's Sixth Amendment right to a fair trial. Devoney, 717 So. 2d at 504.

ISSUE II

THE SUFFICIENCY OF THE EVIDENCE CLAIM

The jury found Hampton guilty of murder in the first degree, as charged. (V2/213). "A general guilty verdict rendered by a jury instructed on both first-degree murder and felony murder alternatives may be upheld on appeal where the evidence is sufficient to establish either felony murder or premeditation." Blake v. State, 972 So. 2d 839, 850 (Fla. 2010) (quoting Crain v. State, 894 So. 2d 59, 73 (Fla. 2004)).

Hampton concedes, correctly, that his current challenge to felony murder, based on sexual battery or attempted sexual battery as an underlying felony, was not raised during his motion for judgment of acquittal. (V9/713; 776). As a result, his current arguments are procedurally barred. Nevertheless, Hampton argues that his challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence of felony murder, with sexual battery as the underlying felony, should be reviewed as fundamental error under F.B. v. State, 852 So. 2d 226 (Fla. 2003) because this Court has a duty to address the sufficiency of evidence in each capital case. See Overton v. State, 801 So. 2d 877, 905 (Fla. 2001); Fla. R. App. P. 9.142(a)(6).

In light of this Court's duty to review the sufficiency of

the evidence under 9.142(a)(6), the State will address the sufficiency of the evidence on both premeditated murder and felony murder. "If, after viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to the State, a rational trier of fact could find the existence of the elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt, sufficient evidence exists to sustain a conviction." Deparvine v. State, 995 So. 2d 351, 376 (Fla. 2008) (quoting Reynolds v. State, 934 So. 2d 1128, 1145 (Fla. 2006)).

"The question of whether the evidence fails to exclude all reasonable hypotheses of innocence is for the jury to determine, and where there is substantial, competent evidence to support the jury verdict," reversal is not required. Darling v. State, 808 So. 2d 145, 155 (Fla. 2002) (quoting State v. Law, 559 So. 187, 188 (Fla. 1989)). The State is not required to "rebut conclusively, every possible variation of events," it only has to present evidence that is inconsistent with defendant's reasonable hypothesis. Darling, 808 So. 2d at 156. Moreover, the State is entitled to a view of any conflicting evidence in the light most favorable to the jury's verdict. Cochran v. State, 547 So. 2d 928, 930 (Fla. 1989).

Premeditation may be shown by evidence such as "the nature of the weapon used, the presence or absence of adequate provocation, previous difficulties between the parties, the

manner in which the homicide was committed, and the nature and manner of the wounds inflicted." *Green v. State*, 715 So. 2d 940, 943 (Fla. 1998); *Johnston v. State*, 863 So. 2d 271, 285-86 (Fla. 2003) (evidence of premeditation sufficient where victim was strangled and injuries indicated victim struggled).

In this case, the victim had a brain hemorrhage consistent with multiple blows to her face and head. She was beaten with such force that her eyes were swollen shut, she had multiple abrasions on her face and body, and the lacerations across her neck were consistent with her throat being sliced and then stabbed by a knife. The blood spatter evidence, bloody handprints, and multiple injuries established that she struggled extensively, and did not die immediately after her jugular vein was cut. Despite her gasping pleas for help, Hampton poured lighter fluid on her and tried to destroy his own DNA in her vagina with a rag and cleaning solution.

In Hodges v. State, 55 So. 3d 515, 541 (Fla. 2010), this Court reiterated that "the deliberate use of a knife to stab a victim multiple times in vital organs is evidence that can support a finding of premeditation." Id., citing Williams v. State, 967 So. 2d 735, 758 (Fla. 2007) (quoting Perry v. State, 801 So. 2d 78, 85-86 (Fla. 2001)). Here, as in Hodges, 55 So. 3d at 541, the stab wound cut the victim's jugular vein and,

given the evidence of multiple injuries to the victim's head, neck and body, a reasonable jury could have concluded that the perpetrator formed a premeditated intent to kill. The nature and location of the victim's wounds support the finding of premeditation. See also Perry v. State, 801 So. 2d 78, 85-86 (Fla. 2001), citing Rogers v. State, 783 So. 2d 980, 989 (Fla. 2001).

Felony Murder:

The evidence also was sufficient to support a conviction on the alternate theory of felony murder, with sexual battery or robbery or burglary as the underlying felony. Hampton does not challenge the sufficiency of the evidence of felony murder based on either robbery or burglary. Nor could he credibly do so. The direct evidence included Hampton's post-Miranda statements in which Hampton told the police, among other things, that he entered the victim's apartment while she slept and was "digging around" in the drawers of her dresser looking for money and cocaine. According to Hampton, the victim woke up while he was looking for money and drugs, a struggle ensued, and he stabbed her in the neck. Hampton stated that he took \$50.00 belonging to the victim. When Hampton was taken into custody on the day of the murder, he had approximately \$10.00 in his pocket. Hampton admitted taking \$50.00 from the victim's home and

explained how he spent the money. Thus, the trial court found that it was proven beyond a reasonable doubt that Hampton was committing both robbery and burglary at the time he killed the victim.

As to the sexual battery, Hampton told Reginald that he was going to meet a girl at 3:45 a.m., Hampton admitted having sexual intercourse with the victim, which was cumulative since DNA testing proved that he had, but claimed it was consensual However, the State's evidence sufficiently rebutted sex. Hampton's claim of consensual sex. In this case, there were multiple injuries to the victim, blood and blood evidence in the victim's bedroom, and Hampton's semen and DNA found inside the victim's vagina. Although Hampton claimed that the sex was consensual, there was evidence of a struggle and the victim was discovered laying on the floor of her bedroom with both eyes swollen shut, abrasions on her face and body, and a laceration across her neck consistent with her throat being sliced and then stabbed by a knife. She also had a brain hemorrhage consistent with multiple blows to her face and head. As the trial court further noted, blood spatter on the walls and around her body reflect that she received a minimum of four blows while she was on the floor. In addition, there were handprints in the blood around her body indicative of sexual

intercourse with the victim in the missionary position. Hampton testified at trial that he used a soapy rag to attempt to clean away DNA evidence from the victim's vagina as she lay bleeding and pleading for help. Ultimately, as the trial court found:

The evidence is clear that the sexual intercourse between the Defendant and the victim was not consensual. The evidence provided at trial supports a finding that the victim was beaten into submission for sex by the Defendant. [fn4] The sexual battery at the time of the capital offense has been proven beyond a reasonable doubt.

(V2/288-289) (e.s.) (footnote omitted)

See Fitzpatrick v. State, 900 So. 2d 495, 509 (Fla. 2005) in part, on trauma to murder victim's puffiness around her head, and bruising on her arms to reject defendant's assertion that sex was consensual); Dessaure v. 3d 478, 486 (Fla. 2010) (finding, 55 So. State. Dessaure's assertion to the contrary, there was ample evidence to support that a sexual battery occurred - the victim was found naked and face down on the floor; Dessaure's semen was on a towel near the victim's body and on her bed linens; and a witness testified that Dessaure told him he struck the victim and began having sex with her). Even assuming, arguendo, that the sexual intercourse began as consensual, which the State does not concede and specifically disputes, any consent would have been revoked when Hampton started to beat and stab her to death.

See McWatters v. State, 36 So. 3d 613, 633-634 (Fla. 2010) (finding that jury could have reasonably inferred that any consent to sex was terminated when the defendant began to choke her to death); Zack v. State, 753 So. 2d 9, 17-18 (Fla. 2000) (although there was evidence implying victim originally intended to engage in consensual intercourse, it did not negate expert's opinion, based on blood evidence and other physical evidence, that the attack began as soon as she and Zack entered the house).

The evidence previously described also supports the trial court's finding that Hampton was engaged in all three of the aforementioned felonies at the time of the murder. §921.141(5)(d), Fla. Stat. (2007). As the trial court found:

The aggravating factors in this case are horrendous. The Defendant was on probation for failing to register as a sex offender in Georgia when he murdered Renee McKinness. The Defendant committed the murder during the course of burglary, robbery, and sexual battery. The method employed by the Defendant to kill Renee McKinness was especially heinous, atrocious, and cruel. These factors greatly outweigh the comparatively insignificant mitigating factors.

In light of the unchallenged alternate theories supporting Hampton's first-degree murder conviction, both premeditated and felony murder, and the multiple weighty aggravating factors, error, if any, is harmless. *State v. DiGuilio*, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

ISSUE III

THE CUMULATIVE PHOTOGRAPHS CLAIM

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